STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

Michigan Supreme Court No	Michigan	Supreme	Court No.			
---------------------------	----------	---------	-----------	--	--	--

-V-

Court of Appeals No.325806

Kareem Swilley,

Defendant-Appellant.

Trial Court No. 14-039758-FJ

Saginaw County Prosecutor Tenth Judicial Circuit Court Saginaw County 111 S. Michigan Ave. Saginaw, Michigan 48802

Kareem Swilley #882619

Defendant in Pro Per

Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility
1727 West Bluewater Highway
Ionia, Michigan 48846



APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL IN PRO PER

NOW COMES, Defendant - Appellant, Kareem Swilley, and was found guilty of;

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief as well as his supplemental brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S ISSUE I

THE PROSECUTION FAILED TO PRODUCE LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO IDENTIFY APPELLANT AS THE PERPETRATOR OR PROVE HIS GUILT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;	
	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;	
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;	
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.	

Arguments

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO PRESENT EXTENSIVE EVIDENCE OF SAGINAW GANG TERRITORIES, GANG SIGNS AND OTHER SIMILAR EVIDENCE TO SUGGEST THAT THE SHOOTING WAS GANG RELATED WHERE THE ADMISSION OF THIS EVIDENCE UNDERMINED THE RELIABILITY OF THE VERDICT AND DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A FIAR TRIAL

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING "EXPERT' WITNESS TESTIMONY IN THE AREA OF SAGINAW GANG TERRITORY, GANG MEMBERSHIP AND INDICA OF GANG AFFILIATION" BY DETECTIVE OBERLY, WHOSE QUALIFICATIONS AND TESTIMONY DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF MRE 702

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO TESTIMONY FROM TROOPER KAHN AS TO AN ALLEGED PRIOR CONSISTANT STATEMENT BY COMPLAINTANT YOUNGBLOOD A THAT EVIDENCE WAS INADMISSIBLE UNDER MRE 801(D)(1)(B), AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL TO APPELLANT AS IT IMPROPERLY BOLSTERED YOUNGBLOOD'S TESTIMONIAL CREDIBILITY.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S ISSUE V

THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AND DENIED APPELLANT A FAIR TRIAL BY PERMITTING EXTENSIVE GANG RELATED TESTIMONY.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals supplemental brief and the additional information below.

SUPPLEMENTAL - ISSUE I

THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT MR. SWILLEY'S CONVICTIONS FOR CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT FIRST DEGREE MURDER, MCL 750.316A, AS REQUIRED BY DUE PROCESS. US CONST. AM. XIV.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals supplemental brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S SUPPLEMENTAL - ISSUE II

THE VERDICTS RENDERED BY THE JURY INVOLVING MR. SWILLEY ARE AGGAINST THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE FOR THEY WERE REACHED BY EXTRANEOUS INFLUENCES IN VIOLATION OF MR. SWILLEY'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS. US CONST. AM. XIV.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;	
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;	
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;	
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.	

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals supplemental brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S SUPPLEMENTAL - ISSUE III

MR. SWILLEY SHOULD HAVE GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BASED ON NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL FOR IF IT WOULD HAVE BEEN PROVIDED TO THE JURY DIFFERNANT VERDICTS MAY HAVE BEEN RENDERED.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;	
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;	
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;	
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.	

<u>Argument</u>

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals supplemental brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S SUPPLEMENTAL - ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY FAILING TO ADHERE TO THE SENTENCING PROCEDURE REQUIRED UNDER MCL 769.25 AND SET FORTH IN MILLER V ALABAMA, 567 U.S.____; 132 S.CT. 2455 (2012), THUS VIOLATING MR. SWILLEY'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS. U.S. CONST. AMS. VI; XIV.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

Defendant-Appellant Kareem Swilley, relies upon and incorporates the facts and arguments within his Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief. See attached Michigan Court of Appeals supplemental Brief.

I want the Court to consider the issues as raised in my Court of Appeals brief and the additional information below.

DEFENDANT'S NEW ISSUE

TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRECTION WHEN IT DENIED HIS MOTION FOR A SPEEDY TRIAL, WHERE THE PROSECUTION INTENTIONALLY DELAYED A JUVINALE'S TRAIL TO GAIN TACTICAL ADVANTAGE AND FORCED THE DEFENDANT TO WAIT YEARS BEFORE BEING TRIED, ONLY AFTER THE DEFENDANT REACHED 18 YEARS OF AGE TO PREJUDICE AND PREVENT THE JURY FROM HAVING TO RENDER A VERDICT TO A JUVENILE, VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT (SIXTH AMENDMENT) TO A SPEEDY TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS.

The Court should review the Court of Appeals decision on this issue because:

	The issue raises a serious question about the legality of a law passed by the legislature;
X	The issue raises a legal principle which is very important to Michigan law;
X	The Court of Appeals decision is clearly wrong and will cause an important injustice to me;
X	The decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Argument

This Court should grant leave to appeal the decision of the court of appeal.

Standard of Review:

Preserved - When the constitutional right to a speedy trial is formally preserved in the record, the court will conduct a *de novo* review of the issue on appeal. *People v Cain*, 238 Mich App 95, 111 (1999). Since the speedy trial issue was preserved by oral and written defense motions, and because it implicates a constitutional right, the prosecution bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. *Chapman v California*, 386 US 1887 S Ct 824; 17 L Ed 2d 705 (1967); *People v Anderson* (After Remand), 446 Mich 392; 521 NW2d 538 (1994).

Discussion:

In this case, the defendant contends that the prosecution intentionally delayed the trial/prosecution strictly for the purposes to prevent the jury from rendering a verdict to a juvenile. Prosecution investigation must be reasonable and the subject matter be investigated must comport with the charges. Here, the prosecution investigated gang activity/theory's and solicited the police gang unit experts not related to the charges against the defendant as justification for the delay to trail.

This was nothing more than a way to hide the underlying prosecutions strategy to postpone the defendant's trail until he was over 18 years of age. The defendant looks very young for his age and by waiting and delaying prosecution against the objections and motions for a speedy trial by the defense counsel, the prosecution was able to directly prejudice the defendant's right to due process through trying him after he became an adult.

In People v Bisard, 114 Mich App 784; 319 NW2d 670 (1982);

"When a delay is deliberately undertaken to prejudice a defendant, little actual prejudice need be shown to establish a due process claim. Where, however, there is a justifiable reason for the delay, the defendant must show more -- that the prejudice resulting from the delay outweighs any reason provided by the state." [Id. at 790]

There can be no sense of fair play when the state takes deliberate measure to prolong, delay prosecution of the charged incarcerated defendant. It is widely known that a majority of criminal sexual conduct cases are routinely fast tracked to trial to ensure that memories and the emotional aspects of the victims pains are presented for a strong case before the jury. That strategy is clearly constitutional as it conforms with the speedy trial act. The opposite strategy where the evidence is readily available,

where witnesses and statements were secured prior to arrest cannot be considered reasonable delay. The prosecutor's claims that efforts to investigate gang affiliations' and gang territory was unreasonable as it had nothing to do with the actual crime charged or committed. This was a delay tactic designed to secure a tactical advantage in the defendant's trial were they would be able to present a full grown 18 year old defendant instead of a younger juvenile. The defendant request that the Supreme Court review and address this legal problem as it has wide-spread implications through-out the states handling of juvenile felony trials.

RELIEF REQUESTED

For the above reasons, I request that this Court GRANT leave to appeal, APPOINT a lawyer to represent me, and GRANT any other relief this Court decides that I am entitled to receive.

Respectfully Submitted,

2016

Kareem Swilley, #882619

Defendant In Pro Per Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility 1727 West Bluewater Highway

Ionia, Michigan 48846

Dated: October 20th,

STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Plaintiff-Appellee,	
-V-	Michigan Supreme Court No
	Court of Appeals No.325806
KAREEM SWILLEY,	Trial Court No. 14 020750 FI
Defendant-Appellant.	Trial Court No. 14-039758-FF RECEIVED
	(c. NOV 02 2018
AFFIDAVIT	OF INDIGENCY

My name is Kareem Swilley. I am currently in prison at the Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility, 1727 West Bluewater Highway, Ionia, Michigan 48846. My Prison number is 882619 My income and assets are:

	My only source of income is from my prison job.
√	I have no income.
√	I have no assets (stocks, bonds, property) which can be quickly changed into cash.
√	I cannot pay the filing fees for the attached application.

I ask this Court to waive the filing fee in this matter. I declare that the statements above are true to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. Respectfully Submitted,

Dated: October 20th,

Kareem Swilley, #882619 Defendant In Pro Per

Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility 1727 West Bluewater Highway Ionia, Michigan 48846

STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Plaintiff-Appellee,	
	Michigan Supreme Court No.
-V-	
	Court of Appeals No.325806
KAREEM SWILLEY, Defendant-Appellant.	Trial Court No. 14-039758-FJ

MOTION FOR WAIVER OF FEES AND COSTS

NOW COMES Plaintiff proceeding as his own attorney in propria persona, and respectfully moves this Honorable Court to waive the filing fees and costs required by law and court rule MCR 2.002(D) / MCR 7.319(7)(h) and MCL 600.2963 in the above-entitled matter for the reasons of Indigency as are more particularly set forth in the attached Affidavit of Indigency.

Respectfully Submitted,

2016

Kareem Swilley, #882619 Defendant In Pro Per

Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility 1727 West Bluewater Highway Ionia, Michigan 48846 Dated: October 20th,

NOV 02 2016

CLERK SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MICHIGAN IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPL	E OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN	,
	Plaintiff-Appellee,	Michigan Supreme Court No
-V-		Court of Appeals No.325806
KAREI	EM SWILLEY,	Court of Appeals 140.323600
	Defendant-Appellant.	Trial Court No. 14-039758-FJ
	PROOF	OF SERVICE
	On	, 2016, I mailed by U.S. mail
one co	py of the documents checked belo	ow:
√	Affidavit of Indigency and Proof of	of Service
√	Pro Per Application for Leave to	Appeal
√	Copy of Court of Appeals Decision	on
√	Court of Appeals Brief	
√	Supplemental Court of Appeals E	Brief
	Other:	
		RECEIVED
TO: Sagina	w County Prosecutor	(NOV 02 2016
Tenth Ju	idicial Circuit Court Saginaw County lichigan Ave.	
	, Michigan 48802	CLERIC SUPREME COURT
l decla	re that the statements above are t	true to the best of my knowledge, information
and be	elief.	
Respe	ctfully Submitted,	
/s// 2016	reel Sutilley	Dated: October 20th,
	n Swilley, #882619	
	ant In Pro Per	
	Creek Correctional Facility est Bluewater Highway	
Ionia, M	ichigan 48846	

Kareem Swilley #882619

Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility 1727 West Bluewater Highway Ionia, Michigan 48846

Dated: October 20th, 2016

Clerk of the Court

Michigan Supreme Court P.O. Box 30052 Lansing, Michigan 48909

RE:

PEOPLE V Kareem Swilley,

Supreme Court No. _

Court of Appeals No. 325806 Trial Court No. 14-039758-FJ NOV 02 2016

Dear Clerk:

Enclosed for filing in the above captioned case, please find the original of the pleadings checked below:

√	Affidavit of Indigency and Proof of Service
√	Pro Per Application for Leave to Appeal
√	Court of Appeals Decision
√	Court of Appeals Brief
√	Supplemental Court of Appeals Brief
	Other (explain)

I am indigent and cannot provide the seven copies. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Kareem Swilley, 882619

Appellant – Defendant In Pro Per Bellamy Creek Correctional Facility 1727 West Bluewater Highway

Ionia, Michigan 48846

CC: County Prosecutor

Defendants File