STATE OF MICHIGAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

SC: 154552 vs. COA: 325313

Saginaw CC: 14-039760-FC

JOHN HENRY GRANDERSON,

Defendant-Appellee.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs. COA: 325530

Saginaw CC: 14-039757-FC

TERRANCE DEMON-JORDAN THOMAS, JR., Defendant-Appellee.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

SC: 154684 vs. COA: 325806

Saginaw CC: 14-039758-FC

SC: 154656

KAREEM AMID SWILLEY, JR.,

Defendant-Appellee.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S [CORRECTED] RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT-APPELLEES' APPLICATIONS FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

JOHN A. MCCOLGAN, JR. (P37168) PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

Submitted by:

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

Also within that area, Hildebrant found a car registered to defendant-appellant Swilley's sister Shontrell Harris. TT 8, p, 14; TT 9, p. 80. He performed an inventory search and found three cell phones in the glove box. TT 8, p. 37. Shontrell initially told police that her aunt had borrowed her car and had abandoned it after it had run out of gas. TT 9, pp. 97, 177. Nevertheless, she finally admitted defendant-appellant Swilley had her car after she left it and the car's keys at his house. TT 9, pp. 93-94, 111, 177.

The 21 9-mm casings taken from York Street and from with the Saturn were determined to have been fired from the firearm seized by Hildebrant on Christmas Day, and all of the .40-caliber casings were fired from one firearm. TT 8, pp. 80, 81, 82-83, 96-98. Two .40-caliber bullets taken from Galvin's body were fired from one firearm, but they could not be matched to

any of the .40-caliber casings. TT 8, pp. 84-85, 89. The bullet taken from Galvin's shoulder was a 9-mm. TT 8, pp. 86, 87. The firearm collected by Hildebrant was tested for DNA. TT 9, pp. 187-188. Along with known DNA samples from defendant-appellant Swilley and from defendant-appellant Thomas, TT 9, p. 173, a DNA analysis was able to exclude defendant-appellant Swilley as one of the donors of the DNA found on the firearm. TT 9, p. 200. However, defendant-appellant Thomas was most likely a primary donor. TT 9, p. 199, 204.

Detective Khan testified as an expert in cell phone data analysis. TT 12, p. 23. He analyzed the phones taken from Shontrell Harris' car. TT 12, pp. 17, 23-24, 25. One phone belonged to defendant-appellant Thomas. TT 12, pp. 31, 33-34, 38. Another phone belonged to defendant-appellant Swilley. TT 12, pp. 32-33. In defendant-appellant Swilley's contacts list were defendant-appellant Thomas', defendant-appellant Granderson's, and Martin's phone numbers. TT 12, pp. 55, 56, 57. On August 24, 2012, defendant-appellant Thomas texted defendant-appellant Swilley about a 9-mm gun. TT 12, pp. 103-104. On August 25, 2012, defendant-appellant Swilley texted defendant-appellant Thomas about a .40-caliber gun. TT 12, pp. 104-105. Defendant-appellant Thomas responded that he had a .380-caliber. TT 12, p. 105. On November 21, 2012, at 2:49 p.m., defendant-appellant Swilley texted defendant-appellant Thomas and asked, "how many down?" TT 12, p. 115. Defendant-appellant Thomas responded, "[A]bout three." Defendant-appellant Swilley texted, "[W]oo whoo." TT 12, p. 116. A video taken on defendant-appellant Swilley's phone on October 6, 2012, showed a 9-mm Glock pistol with an extended magazine. TT 13, pp. 23-24, 25-26. The pistol appeared to be the same firearm seized by Officer Hildebrant. TT 13, p. 26.

Defendant-appellant Swilley asserted an alibi defense. On the afternoon of the shooting, defendant-appellant Swilley and his grandparents left their home at about 2 p.m. and went to the

water department and to City Hall to transfer some property to defendant-appellant Swilley and to defendant-appellant Swilley's sister. TT 7, pp. 97, 112; TT 14, pp. 90, 91, 92, 95. They eventually went to the courthouse. There, defendant-appellant Swilley received a phone call on his cell phone. Defendant-appellant Swilley told his grandfather, "I'm glad I'm with you all, because something just went down, and they probably would try to blame it on me." TT 14, p. 93.

Lori Brown and Mary Malocha worked at the City of Saginaw Assessor's Office. TT 13, p. 76, 96. They were working on November 21, 2012, but she could not recall seeing defendant-appellant Swilley on that day. TT 13, pp. 79, 96, 101. While the grantor was required to sign a quitclaim deed, the grantee was not. Further, the grantee was not required to appear in person. TT 13, p. 77, 101. However, the grantee was required to sign an affidavit. TT 13, pp. 85-86. In this case, the grantees were defendant-appellant Swilley and Marcel Swilley, but the only signature on the affidavit was Marcel's. TT 13, pp. 88, 102.

In Docket No. 154552, Court of Appeals Docket No. 325313, defendant-appellant Granderson appeals his convictions and sentences of one count of first-degree premeditated murder, contrary to MCL 750.316; one count of conspiracy to commit first-degree premeditated murder, contrary to MCL 750.157a; three counts of assault with intent to murder (AWIM), contrary to MCL 750.83; one count of carrying a dangerous weapon with unlawful intent, contrary to MCL 750.226; and six counts of possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony (felony-firearm), contrary to MCL 750.227b. The trial court sentenced Granderson, as a second-habitual offender, MCL 769.10, to concurrent terms of life without parole for murder; life with parole for conspiracy to commit murder; 46 to 69 years' imprisonment for each AWIM count; and 36 to 90 months' imprisonment for carrying a dangerous weapon. The trial court

ordered that all of the sentences be served consecutively to six concurrent terms of two years' imprisonment for felony-firearm. See ST 1, pp. 5-6.

In Docket No. 154656, Court of Appeals Docket No. 325530, defendant-appellant Thomas appealed his convictions and sentences of first-degree premeditated murder; conspiracy to commit first-degree premeditated murder; three counts of AWIM; one count of carrying a dangerous weapon with unlawful intent; one count of possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to MCL 750.224f; and seven counts of felony-firearm. The trial court sentenced Thomas to concurrent terms of life without parole for conspiracy to commit murder and first-degree murder; 29 to 45 years' imprisonment for each AWIM count; and 60 to 90 months' imprisonment for carrying a dangerous weapon with unlawful intent and possession of a firearm by a felon. The trial court ordered that all of the sentences be served consecutively to seven concurrent terms of two years' imprisonment for each count of felony-firearm. See ST 2, pp. 12-13.

In Docket No. 154684, Court of Appeals No. 325806, defendant-appellant Swilley appealed his convictions and sentences of first-degree premeditated murder; conspiracy to commit murder; three counts of AWIM; one count of carrying a dangerous weapon with unlawful intent; and six counts of felony-firearm. The trial court sentenced Swilley to concurrent terms of life without parole for conspiracy to commit murder; 37 to 75 years' imprisonment for first-degree murder; 18 to 36 years' imprisonment for each AWIM count; and 38 to 60 months' imprisonment for carrying a dangerous weapon with unlawful intent. The trial court ordered that all of the sentences be served consecutively to six concurrent terms of two years' imprisonment for felony-firearm. See RST, pp. 7-8; ST 3, pp. 6-9.

A fourth defendant, Derell Martin, was acquitted of all charges and is not a party to this appeal. Defendant-appellants Granderson, Thomas, and Swilley were also found not guilty of receiving or concealing a stolen firearm, MCL 750.535b.

The defendant-appellants' appeals were consolidated by the Michigan Court of Appeals, see *People v Granderson*, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered January 27, 2016 (Docket No. 325313), and their convictions were ultimately affirmed, see *People v Granderson*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued September 13, 2016 (Docket No. 325313). The defendant-appellants' sought leave from this Court to appeal the Court of Appeals decision. This Court ordered a response to the defendant-appellants' applications, directing the Saginaw County Prosecuting Attorney to:

specifically address whether Willie Youngblood's statements to the police were properly admitted under MRE 801(d)(1)(B) as prior consistent statements. As to defendants Thomas and Swilley, the prosecutor shall also address whether the trial court's questioning of witnesses improperly influenced the jury by creating the appearance of advocacy or partiality against a party. [*People v Granderson*, __Mich __; __NW2d __ (2017) (No. 154552), citing *People v Stevens*, 498 Mich 162; 869 NW2d 233, 239 (2015), cert den sub nom. *Michigan v Stevens*, 136 S Ct 811; 193 L Ed 2d 715 (2016).]

This response follows.¹

¹ Respectfully, it is the People's position that the Court of Appeals issued a comprehensive opinion when affirming the defendant-appellant's convictions. Therefore, considering the thorough nature of the *Granderson* panel's resolution of the issues to which this Honorable Court has directed a response, the People's brief relies substantially on that panel's analysis.

ARGUMENT I

Witness Youngblood's statements to Detective Kahn and Detective Oberle were properly admitted under MRE 801 (d)(1)(B) as prior consistent statements because: (1) Youngblood testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination; (2) there was express and implied claims of fabrication, improper influence and motive of his testimony; (3) the People offered prior consistent statements that was consistent with the challenged in-court testimony; and (4) the statements were made prior to the time that the supposed motive to falsify arose. Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted Youngblood's statements to Detectives Kahn and Oberle.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"A trial court's discretionary decisions concerning whether to admit or exclude evidence 'will not be disturbed absent an abuse of that discretion.", quoting). "A trial court abuses its discretion when it chooses an outcome falling outside the range of principled outcomes." citing "When the decision involves a preliminary question of law however, such as whether a rule of evidence precludes admission, we review the question de novo." *Error! Bookmark not defined.*, citing . Whether a defendant was denied his constitutional right to confrontation is reviewed *de novo*, *People v Breeding*, 284 Mich App 471, 479; 772 NW2d 810 (2009).

"When construing court rules, including evidentiary rules, this Court applies the same principles applicable to the construction of statutes." *People v Duncan*, 494 Mich 713, 723; 835 NW2d 399 (2013), citing *McAuley v Gen Motors Corp*, 457 Mich 513, 518; 578 NW2d 282 (1998). "Accordingly, we begin with the rule's plain language." *Duncan*, 494 Mich at 723, citing *Danse Corp v City of Madison Heights*, 466 Mich 175, 181–182; 644 NW2d 721 (2002). "When the language of the rule is unambiguous, we enforce the plain meaning without further judicial construction." *Duncan*, 494 Mich at 723, citing *Danse Corp*, 466 Mich at 18. "Effect should be given to every phrase, clause, and word in the statute and, whenever possible, no word should be

treated as surplusage or rendered nugatory. Whitman v City of Burton, 493 Mich 303, 311-12; 831 NW2d 223 (2013), citing Baker v Gen. Motors Corp, 409 Mich 639, 665; 297 NW2d 387 (1980). "The Court may refer to dictionaries to aid in discerning the plain meaning of a rule." Duncan, 494 Mich at 723, citing Fremont Ins Co v Izenbaard, 493 Mich 859, 859; 820 NW2d 902 (2012).

B. LEGAL STANDARDS

"Hearsay is 'a statement, other than the one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." *Duncan*, 494 Mich at 724, quoting MRE 801(c). "Hearsay is generally prohibited and may only be admitted at trial if provided for in an exception to the hearsay rule." *Duncan*, 494 Mich at 724, quoting *People v Gursky*, 486 Mich 596, 606; 786 NW2d 579 (2010). Accordingly, "[t]he admission of a prior consistent statement through a third party is appropriate if the requirements of MRE 801(d)(1)(B) are satisfied."

People v Jones, 240 Mich App 704, 706; 613 NW2d 411 (2000). MRE 801(d)(1) provides, in pertinent part, that "[a] statement is not hearsay if . . . [t]he declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement, and the statement is . . . consistent with the declarant's testimony and is offered to rebut an express or implied charge against the declarant of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive" MRE 801(d)(1)(B). Stated another way, the following four elements must be established to admit a prior consistent statement:

(1) the declarant must testify at trial and be subject to cross-examination; (2) there must be an express or implied charge of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive of the declarant's testimony; (3) the proponent must offer a prior consistent statement that is consistent with the declarant's challenged in-court

testimony; and, (4) the prior consistent statement must be made prior to the time that the supposed motive to falsify arose. [*Jones*, 240 Mich App at 707.]

C. DISCUSSION

The primary argument made by the defendant-appellants regarding the inadmissibility of Youngblood's statements to Detective Kahn is whether, at the time of his statement, he had a motive to falsify. It is their position that, at the time Youngblood spoke with Kahn, Youngblood was offering any information he could in order to escape or mitigate his potential criminal liability for the Cass River Market incident. They argue that because this motive existed, Youngblood's statement was not admissible as a prior consistent statement. Unfortunately, this argument suffers from several fatal flaws.

As this Court is aware, a prior consistent statement does not become inadmissible because any motive to falsify existed at the time it was made. Rather, the pertinent question is whether the prior statement was made before or after the specific motive alleged to have influenced the testimony arose. See *Jones*, 240 Mich App at 711 (holding that simply having any motive is inadequate; instead, "the motive in the second element must be the same motive in the fourth element of the four-pronged test to admit a prior consistent statement under MRE 801(d)(1)(b)"). In the case at bar, trial counsel for the defendants implied several motives to falsify. In opening statements and in questions posed to Youngblood, trial counsel further implied that Youngblood named the individuals because he had been charged with crimes stemming from the Cass River Market incident. They also suggested that Youngblood's attorney directed Youngblood as to how he should testify when Youngblood gave the proffer statement. Trial counsel also implied that his testimony was improperly influenced by a deal he received

from the prosecutor, in that if he did not testify as the prosecutor wished, he would lose the deal because Youngblood had not been sentenced at the time he testified in this matter.

The lower court record indicates that all of these motives arose only after Youngblood spoke to Kahn. Significant is that when Youngblood spoke to Kahn, he had not been charged. The proffer statement also occurred after Youngblood spoke with Kahn. Further, Youngblood did not reach any deal with the prosecutor until after the proffer statement. While it is certainly possible that he motive the defendant-appellants point to on appeal may have existed prior to the statement to Kahn, it is simply not sufficient that there be *any* possible motive to falsify prior to or at the time of the statement. See *Jones*, 240 Mich App at 711. When this Court considers that there were several claims of improper influences and motives to falsify, many of which manifested only after Youngblood spoke with Kahn, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the prosecutor to present the video recording of the interview as a prior consistent statement.

Regarding Youngblood's first statement to Oberle, the defendant-appellants claim that it was also made when there was a motive to fabricate. Therefore, they assert that the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted portions of that statement. Again, the record reflects that this statement was made prior to the proffer statement. Trial counsel for defendant-appellants suggested that, while giving this statement, Youngblood's attorney coached him to identify the men at trial. The lower court record also indicates that Youngblood gave the statement before he was offered and accepted a sentence agreement with regard to his own criminal charges. Trial counsel also argued that the sentence agreement was also argued to have improperly influenced Youngblood's testimony. As with Youngblood's statements to Detective Kahn, the trial court properly admitted Youngblood's statements to Detective Oberle.

D. CONCLUSION

Based on the above discussion, one that closely reflects The Michigan Court of Appeals resolution of this matter in *People v Granderson*, unpublished order of the Court of Appeals, entered January 27, 2016 (Docket No. 325313), the trial court did not err when it admitted the prior consistent statements of Witness Youngblood. Therefore, the People respectfully request that this court affirm the Court of Appeals decision and find no error relative to this issue.

ARGUMENT II

Did the trial court's questioning of witnesses affirmatively satisfy the five factor test espoused in *People v Stevens*, 498 Mich 162; 869 NW2d 233, 239 (2015), cert den sub nom. *Michigan v Stevens*, 136 S Ct 811; 193 L Ed 2d 715 (2016), establishing that the trial court did not create the appearance of advocacy or partiality against a party where the trial court's questioning of witnesses did not demonstrate judicial bias, did not improperly influence the jury, and did not deprive the defendant-appellants of their constitutional right to a fair trial?

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

With regard to the trial court's questioning of witnesses, "[t]he question whether judicial misconduct denied defendant a fair trial is a question of constitutional law that this Court reviews de novo." *People v Stevens*, 498 Mich. 162, 168; 869 NW2d 233 (2015). "When the issue is preserved and a reviewing court determines that the trial judge's conduct pierced the veil of judicial impartiality, the court may not apply harmless-error review. Rather, the judgment must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial." *Id.* at 164. Further, this Court should not evaluate the defendant-appellants' claims of error in isolation, "but rather consider the cumulative effect of the errors." However, where the defendants' have failed to preserve their challenges relative to the trial court's questioning of witnesses, the issue is reviewed for plain error affecting substantial rights. *People v Carines*, 460 Mich 750, 763-64, 774; 597 NW2d 130 (1999).

B. LEGAL STANDARDS

In *People v Stevens*, this Court clarified the scope of an appellate court's inquiry when deciding whether alleged judicial bias warrants a new trial. Ultimately, the issue is determined by considering "the totality of the circumstances, to determine whether the judge demonstrated the

appearance of advocacy or partiality on the whole." *Stevens*, 498 Mich at 172. A variety of factors must be considered, including: